
 

  wincoil.gov | Page 1  

 

AGENDA 
 

Winnebago County Courthouse  
400 West State Street, Rockford, IL 61101 

County Board Room, 8th Floor 
 

Thursday, January 22, 2026 
6:00 p.m. 

 
1. Call to Order  ............................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance………..……………….Board Member Dr. Michael Thompson 
 
3. Agenda Announcements .............................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
4. Roll Call ................................................................................................ Clerk Lori Gummow 
 
5. Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings and Public Participation 

A. Awards – None 
B. Presentations – None 
C. Public Hearings – None 
D. Public Participation – None 

 
6. Approval of Minutes .................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Approval of November 25, 2025 minutes  
B. Layover of December 11, 2025 minutes 

 
7. Consent Agenda….…………………………………………….………………….…… Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Raffle Report   
B. Auditor’s Report 

 
8. Appointments (Per County Board rules, Board Chairman appointments shall lay over until 

the second board meeting after they are first introduced) 
 

9. Reports of Standing Committees…………..………………………………..…..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

A. Finance Committee…………………………………………………….John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency PSB Boiler Replacement to be Laid 

Over 
3. Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency JDC HVAC System Repairs to be 

Laid Over 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 2  

4. An Ordinance to Abate the 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax 
Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026 to be Laid Over 

5. An Ordinance to Abate the 2017C Tort Property Tax and Quarter Cent Sales Tax 
Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026 to be Laid Over 

6. An Ordinance Abating the Tax hereto Levied for the Year 2025 Payable 2026 to Pay the 
Principal of and Interest on Taxable General Obligation Bonds (Alternate Revenue 
Source) Series 2018 of Winnebago County, Illinois to be Laid Over 

7. An Ordinance to Abate the 2020A Alternative Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 
Payable 2026 to be Laid Over 

8. An Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue 
Source), Series 2021A Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026 to be 
Laid Over 

9. An Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue 
Source), Series 2021B Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026 to be 
Laid Over 

10. An Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public 
Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2022 Bonds Property Tax Levy for 
the Year 2025 Payable 2026 to be Laid Over 

11. An Ordinance Abating Special Tax Roll for 2025 Levy Year for Properties within the 
Special Service Area for the I-39/Baxter Road County Water District Project to be Laid 
Over 

12. Resolution Authorizing Settlement of Pending Litigation (Javen Dowthard et al. v. 
Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office, et al.) 
 

B. Zoning Committee ....................................................... .Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 
Planning and/or Zoning Requests: 

1. Committee Report 
 

C. Economic Development Committee ......................... John Sweeney, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Authorizing an Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement among the 

County of Winnebago, the Village of New Milford, the Four Rivers Sanitation Authority, 
and JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC for Extension of Sewer Line on Harrisville Road 

3. Resolution Granting One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) from Host Fees to the 
Winnebago County Rail Authority (WCRA) to Establish a Dedicated Site Acquisition 
Fund and Support Regional Economic Growth 
 

D. Operations and Administrative Committee .................... Paul Arena, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Awarding Purchase of One Civil Processing Vehicle for the Winnebago 

County Sheriff’s Office Using CIP 2026 Funds 
Cost: $70,357 

3. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Two Vehicle Pool Replacements Using Internal 
Service Funds 
Cost: $52,958 

  
E. Public Works Committee ............................................. Dave Tassoni, Committee Chairman 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 3  

1. Committee Report 
2. (26-001) Resolution Authorizing the Purchase of a Utility Tractor 

Cost:  $30,743.17       C.B. District: County Wide 
3. (26-002) Resolution Authorizing the Purchase of Four Plow/Dump Truck Chassis  

Cost:  $577,500 ($144,375.00/ea.)   C.B. District: County Wide 
4. (26-003) Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Willett Hofmann & Associates, Inc. 

for Construction Engineering for Replacement of the Prairie Hill Road Bridge over the 
Rock River. (Section: 18-00655-00-BR) 
Cost:  County $78,704.2 / Fed $314,816.8  C.B. District: 2, 4 

5. (26-004) Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Willett Hofmann & Associates, Inc. 
for Architectural and Structural Engineering Services for a New Equipment Garage for 
the Highway Department (Section: 25-00748-00-MG) 
Cost:  $110,767      C.B. District: County Wide 

6. (26-005) Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Chastain and Associates, LLC for 
Right of Way Acquisition Services for the Owen Center Road Project (Section: 22-
00712-00-SP) 
Cost:  $89,467.84      C.B. District: 5 

7. (26-006) Resolution Authorizing a Structural Engineering Agreement with Willett 
Hofmann & Associates, Inc. for Bridge Load Rating Updates as Part of the Centralized 
Agency Permitting System (CAPS)  
Cost:  20,000      C.B. District: County Wide 

8. (26-007) Resolution Authorizing an Engineering Agreement with ITERIS for Traffic 
Signal Coordination and Upgrades Along the Riverside Boulevard Corridor. (Section: 
25-00746-00-TL) 
Cost: $99,264      C.B. District: 8, 17 & 20 

9. (26-008) Ordinance for the Vacation of a Portion of Romona Avenue Right-of-Way in 
Rockford Township  
Cost: n/a        C.B. District: 18 
 

F. Public Safety and Judiciary Committee……………………Brad Lindmark, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
10. Unfinished Business …………………………….……………………………………..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

11. New Business………………………………………………………………………………Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
(Per County Board rules, passage will require a suspension of Board rules). 
 

12. Announcements & Communications ..................................................... Clerk Lori Gummow 
A. Correspondence (see packet)   

 
13.  Adjournment …………………………………………………………………………..….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

Next Meeting:  Thursday, February 12, 2026 



Awards,  
Presentations,  
Public Hearings  

and Public Participation 



Approval of 
Minutes 























Consent 
Agenda 



All applying organizations have complied with the requirements of the Winnebago

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

1026 1 Foundation for Educ. Excellence 01/12/26-02/28/2026 $5,000.00
1027 1 Severson Dells Educ Foundation 01/31/2026-01/31/2026 $1,000.00

1032 1 N.I. RIFLE & PISTOL INC. 01/09/26-04/06/26 $868.00
1033 1 OSCAR MIKE VETS ORG 01/31/2026-01/31/2026 $4,999.00
1034 1 Nikolas Ritschel Foundation 01.23.2026-03.14.2026 $1,000.00

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

Department clearance.

The Following Have Requested a Class A, General License

The Following Have Requested a Class B, MULTIPLE (2, 3 OR 4) LICENSE

The Following Have Requested a Class C, One Time Emergency License

RAFFLE APPLICATION REPORT

Presently the County Clerk's office has  Raffle Applications submitted by
 (6)  different organization for (9 ) Raffles.

County Raffle Ordinance.  All fees have been collected, bonds received and all
individuals involved with the raffles have received the necessary Sheriff's



The Following Have Requested a Class D,E,& F Limited Annual License
LICENSE # OF

# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

1028 1 Live and Let Live Various $5,000.00
1029 1 Live and Let Live Various $5,000.00
1030 1 Live and Let Live Various $200.00
1031 1 Live and Let Live Various $2,500.00

Deputy Clerk Lisa Nolley

Date

This concludes my report,

22-Jan-26LORI GUMMOW
Winnebago County Clerk







Appointments 



Reports of 
Standing 

Committees 



Finance 
Committee 



Ordinance Executive Summary
 

Prepared By:       Steve Schultz  

Committee: Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 15, 2026 

Ordinance Title:      Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency PSB Boiler Replacement 

Board Meeting Date: January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  No      Original Appropriation Amount:   $848,000 

If not, explain funding source:  General Fund Balance 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: 13500-49110 (General Fund); 82200-46430-C26xx (CIP Fund) 

FY2026 Budget Impact: $165,544 

Background Information:  The boiler for the PSB Modine heaters in the underground parking garage and 
the Ice Melt system has failed.  The system is currently using approximately 70 gallons of water a day 
indicating that system tubes are leaking.  The boiler needs to be replaced as soon as possible. 

Recommendation:    Finance Department recommends approval 

Contract/Agreement:   Not applicable 

Legal Review:   Not applicable 

Follow-Up:   Not applicable 



1 

2026 Fiscal Year Finance: January 15, 2026 
Lay Over: January 22, 2026 

Sponsored by:  Final Vote: February 12, 2026 

John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman 

2026 CO 

TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026 and recommends 
its adoption. 

Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency PSB Boiler Replacement 

WHEREAS, the boiler for the PSB Modine heaters in the underground parking garage and 
ice melt system has failed causing the system to using approximately 70 gallons of water a day 
which indicates leaking; and, 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026 at its September 25, 2025 meeting; 
and,  

WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #26-003 Emergency PSB Boiler Replacement. 



2 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

PAUL ARENA   PAUL ARENA 

  VALERIE HANSERD                      VALERIE HANSERD 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                         JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD                                                                          KEITH MCDONALD 

 

JOHN SWEENEY  JOHN SWEENEY 

  CHRISTINA VALDEZ  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 
 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2026. 

 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 

 
 



1/7/2026
CIP Shawn Franks

0001-General Fund
'0743-CIP Fund

Department 
Org Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number

Project 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised Budget 
after Approved 

Budget 
Amendment

Expenditures
82200 46430 C26xx Machinery & Equipment $848,000 $0 $848,000 $165,544 $1,013,544
13500 49110 Transfer to CIP Fund $6,198,612 $0 $6,198,612 $165,544 $6,364,156

Revenue
82200 39110 Transfer from General Fund ($15,673,070) $0 ($15,673,070) ($165,544) ($15,838,614)

$165,544
Reason budget amendment is required:

Revenue Source: General Fund Balance transfer to CIP.

AMENDMENT NO:
SUBMITTED BY:

Impact to fiscal year 2026 budget:  

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

None

DATE SUBMITTED:
DEPARTMENT:

FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

The boiler for the PSB Modine heaters in the underground parking garage and ice melt system has failed causing the system to using 
approximately 70 gallons of water a day which indicates leaking.

26-004

13500-Misc County
82200-CIPDEPT. BUDGET NO.

2026
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT



PROJECT PROPOSAL

Company Proposal Date: 12/15/2025
Helm Service Proposal Number: P18463
2279 Yellow Creek Rd
Freeport, IL 61032
Ph: 815-990-1454

Bill To Identity Agreement Location
WINNEBAGO COUNTY FACILITIES 
MANAGEMENT
400 W STATE ST
ROCKFORD, IL 61101

PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING
420 W. STATE STREET
ROCKFORD, IL 61101
Shawn Franks

RE: Winnebago County - PSB - Boiler Replacement
 
Good Morning Shawn,
 
Helm Service would like to thank you for the opportunity to provide this proposal for your consideration.  Partnering with Helm
Service for this work will ensure you are receiving the highest technical expertise in our industry.  Our mechanical service 
procedures promote the highest safety and environmentally conscious practices available.
 
Scope:

 Provide labor and materials to complete the following:
o Isolate boiler and drain down.
o Disconnect water piping, venting, gas, and power.
o Disassemble boiler and remove from site.
o Demo existing 8" intake and exhaust from boiler.
o Core new holes to accommodate venting sizing changing from 8" to 10".
o Run new intake and exhaust piping for new boiler.
o Set new boiler in place and assemble.
o Run all new water piping to boiler and pump.
o Reconnect power for new boiler and pump.
o Rework gas piping to new boiler.
o Insulate new water piping and intake air piping.

 Proposal based on existing isolation valves holding for boiler.
 Control integration is by others. Boiler will have automation gateway for BACNET or MODBUS.
 We will attempt to open crossover to feed ramp while new boiler is installed. If valving doesn't work as intended the 

ramp would be without heat for a duration of 4 days. We will need at least 1 day to run venting which will interrupt 
traffic for the ramp as well.

 Proposal based on straight time labor.
 Proposal excludes sales tax. 

  Investment for Above.................................................$165,544.00

Clarifications:

 Tariff Alert:  The prices quoted herein are based on the current tariff rates, duties, government charges, and trade 
regulations as of the date of this quote. If any new tariffs, duties, taxes, or similar charges are imposed, or any existing 
tariffs, duties, or charges are increased or modified by any government or regulatory authority (collectively, "Tariff 
Changes"), and such Tariff Changes result in an increase in the cost of goods, Helm Service reserves the right to adjust 
the pricing of the affected goods to reflect the increased costs. Helm Service is not obligated to deliver the goods 
and/or services until an agreement on the new price has been reached.  Upon customer approval, Helm will verify 



with suppliers if any price increases have occurred and if so, will notify customer to review required price adjustment 
prior to order.

 Please note – We are not responsible for delays in equipment/material deliveries due to supply chain delays.  With 
current environment, pricing is subject to change pending any equipment cost increases.

 Due to new A2L refrigerant regulations, 410-A Equipment will be discontinued after the first of the year.
 Work to be performed during normal working hours of 7:00am - 3:30pm, Monday through Friday.
 This proposal, scope, and price is the proprietary property of Helm Service and is for our Client’s use only, as it is to be 

utilized for the agreement evaluation. This Agreement sets forth all of the terms and conditions binding upon the 
parties hereto; and no person has authority to make any claim, representation, promise or condition on behalf of 
Helm Service, which is not expressed herein. No party shall alter this agreement.  This proposal will become a binding 
Agreement only after acceptance by Client and approval by an officer of Helm Service as evidenced by their signatures 
below.  All rights to any designs presented are retained by Helm Service.

 Helm shall properly dispose of all debris created by the above noted repairs.
 If additional repairs are found, a separate proposal will be submitted.

Exclusions:

 The scope of this proposal does not include the replacement of any other components of the mechanical or controls 
systems that are not specifically listed in this proposal.

 Temporary HVAC equipment or rental equipment.
 Permits, Inspection fees of any kind.
 Isolation valves, strainers, check valves, etc. unless specifically noted.
 Electrical work of any kind, starters, disconnects, VFD’s wire, conduit, breakers, fuses, etc.
 Roofing, cutting, patching, flashing, painting.
 Structural building/walls; cutting, patching, and coring.
 All work associated with Fire/Life Safety, including interfaces and interlocks to the Fire Alarm System, smoke 

detectors, fire dampers, smoke control dampers, and smoke/fire dampers.

 Additional ventilation requirements/revisions that may be required due to A2L refrigerants.
 Utility Services: We assume the existing utilities (gas, electrical, water) serving the facility are properly sized to handle 

the current building loads.  If it is determined service upgrades are necessary to facilitate current or future loads, 
additional costs may apply through your utility provider and/or Helm.

 Payment and performance bonds.
 All responsibility for lead and asbestos identification, abatement, removal, and disposal prior to start of job.

 

Thank you for the opportunity.   We look forward to working with you. 

 

 

Brooke VenHuizen Annette Schryver

Regional Accounts Executive | Helm Service Inside Sales | Helm Service

815-990-1454 cell 815-297-6067 direct

bvenhuizen@helmgroup.com aschryver@helmgroup.com

 

 

 



Upon execution as provided below, this agreement, including the following pages attached hereto (collectively, the “Agreement”), 
shall become a binding and enforceable agreement against both parties hereto.  Customer, by execution of this Agreement, 
acknowledges that it has reviewed and understands the attached terms and conditions and has the authority to enter into this 
Agreement.

Contractor
Customer

Signature (Authorized Representative)

Brooke VenHuizen

Signature (Authorized Representative)

Name (Print/ Type)

815-990-1454

Name (Print/ Type)

Phone Title

12/15/2025 P18463

Date Proposal # Date PO#



HELM SERVICE
PROJECT - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. TERMS: IF THIS CONTRACT INVOLVES THE PURCHASE OF MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT ONLY, THE PURCHASE PRICE SHALL BE PAYABLE AT THE TIME OF 
DELIVERY OF THE MATERIALS AND/OR EQUIPMENT; IF THIS CONTRACT INVOLVES LABOR OR LABOR AND MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT, PROGRESS 
BILLINGS WILL BE SUBMITTED COVERING MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT DELIVERED TO THE JOB SITE OR STORED IN ACCEPTABLE STORAGE FOR DELIVERY 
TO THE JOB SITE. THIS PROGRESS BILLING WILL ALSO INCLUDE LABOR WHICH HAS BEEN EXPENDED ON THE JOB OR DIRECTLY CONCERNED WITH THE JOB. 
THIS PROGRESS BILLING AMOUNT WILL BE DUE TEN DAYS AFTER BILLING DATE. FOR JOBS WHICH REQUIRE RETENTION, A RETENTION AMOUNT OF FIVE 
PERCENT WILL BE WITHHELD. IT WILL BECOME DUE AND PAYABLE AT THE COMPLETION OF HELM SERVICE'S PORTION OF THE PROJECT.

2. Title to the materials and equipment shall remain with Helm Service until the customer has paid the total price in full, and if the customer should fail to 
make any payment to Helm Service as the same becomes due or the customer fails to perform any other obligation under this contract, Helm Service may 
take possession of the materials and equipment.

3. Helm Service warrants that its labor and installation shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner and shall be free from defects for a period of one 
year after completion of the installation. Helm Service warrants that all equipment and materials furnished will be new unless otherwise specified in this 
contract, and that Helm Service has good title thereto. Helm Service does not warrant the quality of the equipment and materials furnished in any respect 
and the customer's remedy for defects in the equipment and materials shall be against Helm Service's suppliers or the manufacturers of the materials and 
equipment. Helm Service will deliver all manufacturers' written warranties to the customer upon completion of installation. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES 
WILL HELM SERVICE BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOSS OF USE, LOSS OF PROFITS, INCREASED OPERATING OR MAINTENANCE EXPENSE, CLAIMS OF CUSTOMER'S, 
TENANTS, OR CLIENTS, OR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES.

4. Once the equipment and materials have been delivered to the job site, the Customer assumes all risk of damage to same, by any cause, except that 
brought about by the negligence of Helm Service and its employees. The customer shall carry all Risk, Property Insurance to the full value of the materials 
and equipment and name Helm Service as an Additional Insured to the extent of its interest.
The Customer shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining such liability insurance as will protect him against claims which may arise from 
operations under the Contract. 

5. Helm Service will obtain Liability and Workers' Compensation Insurance protecting it against claims which may arise from operations under the 
contract.

6. Helm Service will make delivery or installation, when provided herein, within a reasonable time after this contract is entered into, but it will not be 
responsible for delays caused by unavailability of machinery, equipment, materials or parts, shipper's delays, strikes, lockouts, restrictions imposed by civil
or military authority, priority regulation of some governmental body, insurrection or riot, or any other cause beyond Helm Service's control. If a time for 
performance is stated in this agreement, it shall be deemed to be an estimate only.  If Helm Service is required to make some installation under this 
contract, the customer shall be responsible for putting the premises in a satisfactory condition including furnishing electric power, light, heat, and water 
so that installation can start promptly and be completed efficiently.

7. If Helm Service shall fail to perform any of its obligations under this contract and fails to perform after the customer gives Helm Service ten (10) days' 
written notice of the specific deficiencies, the customer may have someone else complete the performance, but Helm Service's liability shall be limited to 
what it reasonably costs the customer to obtain completion of Helm Service's obligations under this contract. If Helm Service fails to perform any of its 
obligations under this contract, the customer, at customer's option, and without being required to do so, may cancel this contract by giving Helm Service 
ten (10) days written notice.

8. If the Project is stopped for a period of thirty (30) days under an order of any court or other public authority having jurisdiction, or as a result of an act 
of government, such as a declaration of a national emergency making materials unavailable, through no act or fault of Helm Service or if the Project 
should be stopped for a period of thirty (30) days by Helm Service for the customer's failure to make payment thereon as provided in Paragraph 1, then 
Helm Service may upon seven (7) days written notice to the customer terminate this agreement and immediately recover from the customer payment for 
all work to date and for any proven loss sustained upon any materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery, including reasonable 
profit and damages.

9. In the event either party must commence a legal action to enforce any rights under this contract, the successful party shall be entitled to all court costs 
and reasonable attorney's fees as determined by the court for prosecuting or defending the claim as the case might be.

10. The Customer shall not leave any of the equipment or systems furnished or installed by Helm Service in operation until the customer has approved and
accepted same and paid Helm Service the price in full.

11. Any written notice required under this contract may be delivered personally to the other party or mailed as certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
the other party's address as it appears in this agreement or as given to the other party by written notice during the terms of this contract.

12. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless Helm Service, its agents and employees from and against all 
claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, arising out of or resulting from the performance of work hereunder, 
provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in whole or in part by any active or passive act or omission of Customer, anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by Customer, or anyone for whose acts Customer may be liable, regardless of whether it is caused in part by the negligence of Helm 
Service.



Ordinance Executive Summary
 

Prepared By:       Steve Schultz  

Committee: Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 15, 2026 

Ordinance Title:      Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency JDC HVAC System Repairs 

Board Meeting Date: January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  No      Original Appropriation Amount:   $845,535 

If not, explain funding source:  Detention Home Fund Balance 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: 43100-46320 

FY2026 Budget Impact: $74,422 

Background Information:  The cells in Pods B and E at the JDC where additions were added are not 
receiving enough air flow.  This is causing issues with the temperature of the cells being between 59 and 
69 degrees.  Additional exhaust fans and ductwork are needed to increase the air flow.   

Recommendation:    Finance Department recommends approval 

Contract/Agreement:   Not applicable 

Legal Review:   Not applicable 

Follow-Up:   Not applicable 



1 

2026 Fiscal Year Finance: January 15, 2026 
Lay Over: January 22, 2026 

Sponsored by:  Final Vote: February 12, 2026 

John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman 

2026 CO 

TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026 and recommends 
its adoption. 

Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency JDC HVAC System Repairs 

WHEREAS, the additions of cells in Pods B and E of the Juvenile Detention Center are not 
receiving enough air flow. This is causing issues with the temperature of the cells being 
between 59 and 69 degrees. Additional exhaust fans and ductwork are needed to increase the 
air flow; and, 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026 at its September 25, 2025 meeting; 
and,  

WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #26-004 Emergency JDC HVAC System Repairs. 



2 
 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

PAUL ARENA   PAUL ARENA 

  VALERIE HANSERD                      VALERIE HANSERD 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                         JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD                                                                          KEITH MCDONALD 

 

JOHN SWEENEY  JOHN SWEENEY 

  CHRISTINA VALDEZ  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 
 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2026. 

 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 

 
 



1/7/2026
Detention Center Shawn Franks

0131-Juvenile Detention Center

Department 
Org Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number

Project 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised
Budget after 

Approved 
Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

41300 46320 Building Improvements $845,535 $0 $845,535 $74,422 $919,957

Revenue

$74,422
Reason budget amendment is required:

Revenue Source: Available Fund Balance of Juvenile Detention Center Fund

2026
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT

AMENDMENT NO:
SUBMITTED BY:

Impact to fiscal year 2026 budget:  $74,422

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

None

DATE SUBMITTED:
DEPARTMENT:

FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

The cells in Pods B and E at the JDC where additions were added are not receiving enough air flow.  This is causing issues with the 
temperature of the cells being between 59 and 69 degrees.  A space heater is currently in place, but is not a permanent solution.

26-004

41300 -Juvenile Detention CenterDEPT. BUDGET NO.



12/10/2025 

Winnebago County Juvenile 

5350 Northrock Dr. 
Rockford,IL 61103 

Ceroni Mechanical Company would like to thank you for the opportunity of submitting a proposal on the 

above-referenced project. The following scope of work is our interpretation of responsibility to this project. Please 

contact the undersigned with any questions about further clarifications required. 

General Scope: 2 New Exhaust Fans and Ductwork 

Base work: 

• Supply and install 2 new exhaust fans to service the B and E wings

• Supply and install 2 roof curbs for the new exhaust fans, one mounted above each wing

• Cut the roof and set the new roof curbs ready for roofing contractor

• Supply the roofer of record to flash in the new roof curbs

• Fabricate new galvanized ductwork for the new main trunk and branch lines.

• Core holes for new exhaust grilles one in each cell/room.

• Fabricate and weld 20 new exhaust grilles.

• Install new ductwork

• Install backdraft dampers in the exhaust drops

• Install new exhaust grills.

• Support all the new duct work above ceiling.

• Supply and install the necessary electrical feeds for the new exhaust fans

• The exhaust fans will have an electrical disconnect located on the roof for maintenance needs

• Do a complete start up on the new system

• Measure all the supply and return adjust to even the space air flows out

Assumptions & Clarifications: 

• All ductwork will be galvanized material.

• Assuming the cell ceilings are poured concrete that is 3”- 5” thick with no steel reinforcements.

• The price will be good for 30 days

• Ceroni Mechanical assumes all work will be completed during normal business hours.

• We assume we will have maintenance assistance to be able to move freely in the workspace

• We assume the electrical feeding for the new fans will be within 40 feet of the fan locations

• We assume there is enough space in the existing electrical panels for the new exhaust fan feeds

Items not included. 

• Connections to any other equipment not identified.

• Overtime or premium time, bonds of any kind.

• PE stamped drawings.

• Engineering or permits.

Price $74,422. 

7770 Ceroni Rd Cherry Valley, Illinois 61016 (815) 332-7777 



Ceroni Mechanical Company 
 
Execution by Authorized Representatives 

 

ACCEPTANCE: APPROVAL: 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Ceroni Mechanical Company Winnebago County Juvenile 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Date Signed Date Signed 
 

 

 

Sincerely, 

Mike McNulty 

CERONI MECHANICAL COMPANY 



Pod E 
Addition

Pod B 
Addition 

























Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 15, 2026 

Resolution Title: An Ordinance to Abate the 2020A Alternative Bond Property Tax Levy 
for the Year 2025 Payable 2026  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2025 payable 2026. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2020A Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the 
Year 2025 payable 2026. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-22-2026 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chair 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2026 CO 

AN ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE 2020A ALTERNATE BOND
PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2025 PAYABLE 2026

WHEREAS, on January 23, 2020 the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois adopted 
Ordinance No. 2020-CO-007 (the Authorizing Ordinance) authorizing the issuance of General 
Obligation Bonds (Matching Tax and Motor Fuel Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2020A as 
provided in the Act, in an amount not to exceed $4,000,000; and  

WHEREAS, on May 14, 2020 the County Board of the County of Winnebago adopted Ordinance 
No. 2020-CO-039 (hereinafter referred to as "Alternate Bond Ordinance") which authorized and 
provided for the issuance of not to exceed $4,000,000; and  

WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance gave the County the authority to sell Alternate Bonds 
for the purpose of constructing, maintaining and improving County highways, roads and 
bridges; and  

WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the principal and interest payments on the 
aforementioned Alternate Bonds shall be made from Matching Tax monies and Motor Fuel 
taxes which have been pledged towards the payment of the Bonds; and  

WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance also provides that the County shall levy and Alternate 
Bond Property Tax each year until the Bonds are fully paid, in an amount sufficient to fully make 
principal and interest payments on the Alternate Bonds as such payments come are; and  

WHEREAS, on June 3, 2020 the County of Winnebago sold Alternate Bonds having a face value 
of $2,590,000; and  

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago issued a Direction for Abatement of Taxes to abate from 
the taxes levied in the Bond Ordinance that amount representing the reduction to the County 
resulting from the sale of the Bonds in the amount and bearing interest at the rates as 
hereinabove referred to, the amount of such abatement and the remainder of such taxes so 
levied which is to be extended for collection; and  



 

WHEREAS, Section 13 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides that when funds are available 
and on deposit in the Bond Fund in an amount necessary to provide for the payment of interest 
and principal coming due on the Series 2020A Bonds in the following year and upon the deposit 
of said monies for said year, the County may abate the Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for 
that year; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is at least $401,750 in the aforesaid Bond Fund to fully make all principal and 
interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond Fund through December 
30, 2026; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Alternate Bond Ordinance it is no longer necessary for 
the County to levy a 2020A Alternate Bond Property Tax for the 2025 payable 2026 tax year; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the people of the County of Winnebago, Illinois that the 
2020A Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy be abated in the total amount of $401,750.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
that the 2020A Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the 2025 payable 2026 tax year in the 
amount of $401,750 is hereby abated in its entirety.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its adoption.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to file a certified copy of this Tax Abatement Ordinance in the office of the Winnebago 
County Clerk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

PAUL ARENA                                                     PAUL ARENA 

  VALERIE HANSERD 
 

                                                                                             VALERIE HANSERD 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  CHRISTINA VALDEZ  
 

                                                                          CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2026. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 15, 2026 

Resolution Title: An Ordinance to abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate 
Revenue Source), Series 2021A Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025  
Payable 2026 

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2025 payable 2026. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate 
Revenue Source), Series 2021A Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 payable 2026. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-22-2026 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chair 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2026 CO 

AN ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
(ALTERNATE REVENUE SOURCE), SERIES 2021A BOND  

PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2025 PAYABLE 2026

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) had issued General Obligation Bonds 
(Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2012F (the “Prior Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were issued to pay the costs of constructing water system and 
associated capital improvements within the I-39/Baxter Road Service Area (the “Area”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were refinanced and retired on March 25, 2021; and  

WHEREAS, $3,485,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), 
Series 2021A, of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, for the purpose of refunding certain 
outstanding alternate bonds of said County, the pledge of certain revenues to the payment of 
principal and interest on said bonds and the levy of a direct annual tax sufficient to pay such 
principal and interest if the pledged revenues are insufficient to make such payment; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has levied taxes for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate 
Revenue Source), Series 2021A and filed the same with the County Clerk of the County (the 
"County Clerk"); and  

WHEREAS, the County has received notice from the County Clerk that the tax rate for the 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021A Bonds for levy 
year 2025 payable 2026 calculated by the County Clerk in accordance with the provisions of the 
Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, as amended; and  

WHEREAS, the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021A 
Bond Levy for levy year 2025 payable 2026 is not less than the amount of principal of and 
interest on the Bonds otherwise payable from Pledged Taxes levied for the year 2025 payable 
2026; and  

WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the County that the Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2025 payable 2026 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated; and 



 

WHEREAS, there is at least $405,450 in the aforesaid Bond Fund to fully make all principal and 
interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond Fund through December 
30, 2026.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
as follows: In accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Tax. The Pledged Taxes levied for the 
year 2025 payable 2026 for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (alternate revenue source), 
series 2021A Bond are hereby abated in their entirety in the amount of $405,450. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, upon the adoption of this Ordinance, a certified copy hereof shall 
be filed with the County Clerk, and it shall be the duty of the County Clerk to abate the Pledged 
Taxes levied for the year 2025 payable 2026 in accordance with the provisions hereof. 
 
 

 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                                  JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

PAUL ARENA                                                         PAUL ARENA  

   VALERIE HANSERD                                                                                              VALERIE HANSERD 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  CHRISTINA VALDEZ  
 

                                                                          CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2026. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 15, 2026 

Resolution Title: An Ordinance to abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate 
Revenue Source), Series 2021B Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025  
Payable 2026  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2025 payable 2026. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the General Obligation Refunding Bonds 
(Alternative Revenue Source), Series 2021B Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 payable 2026. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-22-2026 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chair 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2026 CO 

AN ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
(ALTERNATE REVENUE SOURCE), SERIES 2021B BOND  

PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2025 PAYABLE 2026

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) had issued General Obligation Bonds 
(Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2012G (the “Prior Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were issued to pay the costs of constructing improvements along 
Baxter Road and acquisition of a waterworks system from the Village of Cherry Valley (the 
“water system”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were refinanced and retired on March 25, 2021; and  

WHEREAS, $1,365,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), 
Series 2021B, of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, for the purpose of refunding certain 
outstanding alternate bonds of said County, the pledge of certain revenues to the payment of 
principal and interest on said bonds and the levy of a direct annual tax sufficient to pay such 
principal and interest if the pledged revenues are insufficient to make such payment; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has levied taxes for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate 
Revenue Source), Series 2021B and filed the same with the County Clerk of the County (the 
"County Clerk"); and  

WHEREAS, the County has received notice from the County Clerk that the tax rate for the 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021B Bonds for levy 
year 2025 payable 2026 calculated by the County Clerk in accordance with the provisions of the 
Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, as amended; and  

WHEREAS, the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021B 
Bond Levy for levy year 2025 payable 2026 is not less than the amount of principal of and 
interest on the Bonds otherwise payable from Pledged Taxes levied for the year 2025 payable 
2026; and  



 

WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the County that the Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2025 payable 2026 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated; and 
  
WHEREAS, there is at least $156,800 in the aforesaid Bond Fund to fully make all principal and 
interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond Fund through December 
30, 2026.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
as follows: In accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Tax. The Pledged Taxes levied for the 
year 2025 payable 2026 for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (alternate revenue source), 
series 2021B Bond are hereby abated in their entirety in the amount of $156,800. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, upon the adoption of this Ordinance, a certified copy hereof shall 
be filed with the County Clerk, and it shall be the duty of the County Clerk to abate the Pledged 
Taxes levied for the year 2025 payable 2026 in accordance with the provisions hereof. 
 
 
 

 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                                  JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

PAUL ARENA      PAUL ARENA  

   VALERIE HANSERD 
 

                                                                                             VALERIE HANSERD 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 

                                                                          CHRISTINA VALDEZ  
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2026. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 

Prepared By:     Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:     Finance Committee 

Committee Date:     January 15, 2026 

Resolution Title:   An Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds  
 (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2022 Bonds Property 

  Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026 

County Code:   Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date:   January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information:  The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies 
     filed with the County Clerk. The abatement ordinances abate the tax levies  
     filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2025 payable 2026. The abatements  
     must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar 
   amount changes every year. 

Recommendation:  Approval of an ordinance to abate the General Obligation Alternate Refunding 
 Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2022 Bonds 
 Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026. 

Contract/ Agreement:  Not Applicable  

Legal Review:    Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-22-2026 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chair 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2026 CO 

AN ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE GENERAL OBLIGATION ALTERNATE REFUNDING
BONDS (PUBLIC SAFETY SALES TAX ALTERNATE REVENUE SOURCE), SERIES 2022

BONDS PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2025 PAYABLE 2026 

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) had issued and had outstanding General 
Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source), 
Series 2013A (the "2013A Bonds"); and, these Prior Bonds were refinanced and retired on 
August 11, 2022 reference Ordinance No. 2022-CO-057 and $12,500,000 General Obligation 
Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2022 
Bonds (the "2022 Bonds") were issued; and 

WHEREAS, the revenue source that is pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest 
on the 2022 Bonds are revenues received by the County from the special county retailers' 
occupation tax and service occupation tax for public safety purposes (the "Pledged Revenues"); 
and 

WHEREAS, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois has levied taxes for the 
General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue 
Source) Series 2022 Bonds and filed the same with the County Clerk of the County (the "County 
Clerk"); and  

WHEREAS, the County has received notice from the County Clerk that the tax rate for the 
General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue 
Source) Series 2022 Bonds for levy year 2025 payable 2026 calculated by the County Clerk in 
accordance with the provisions of the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate 
Revenue Source) Series 2022 Levy for levy year 2025 payable 2026 is not less than the amount 
of principal of and interest on the Bonds otherwise payable from Pledged Taxes levied for the 
year 2025 payable 2026; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Pledged Tax. Whenever the pledged 
revenues or other lawfully funds are available and on deposit in the Bond Fund in an amount 
necessary to pay any principal of or interest coming due on the Series 2022 Bonds in the 



 

following year and upon the deposit of said monies for said year, the County may abate the 
Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for that year, with proper notification of such abatement filed 
with the County Clerk; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is at least $177,750 in the aforesaid Bond Account to fully make all principal 
and interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding General Obligation Alternate 
Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2022 Bonds through 
December 30, 2026; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the County that the Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2025 payable 2026 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
as follows: In accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Pledged Tax. The Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2025 payable 2026 for the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public 
Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2022 Bonds are hereby abated in their 
entirety in the amount of $177,750. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, upon the adoption of this Ordinance, a certified copy hereof shall 
be filed with the County Clerk, and it shall be the duty of the County Clerk to abate the Pledged 
Taxes levied for the year 2025 payable 2026 in accordance with the provisions hereof. 
 
 
 

 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                                  JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

 PAUL ARENA      PAUL ARENA  

  VALERIE HANSERD 
 

                                                                                             VALERIE HANSERD 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 

                                                                          CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _______day of __________________________ 2026. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 











    Resolution Executive Summary 

Prepared By:  Lafakeria S. Reuter 
Committee:  Finance Committee 
Committee Date: January 15, 2026 
Resolution Title:   Resolution Authorizing Settlement of Pending Litigation (Javen 

Dowthard et al. v. Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office, et al.) 
County Code:      Not Applicable 
Board Meeting Date: January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted?   Yes    Appropriation Amount:   $500,000 
If not, explain funding source:  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Code:   Budget Impact:  Within budgeted amount 

Background Information: Settlement of claims by the Plaintiff against the Sheriff’s Office and 
three Sheriff deputies. 

Recommendation: Staff concurs 

Contract/Agreement: N/A 

Legal Review:  Legal review conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office 

Follow-Up: N/A 



RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2026 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  FINANCE COMMITTEE  
 

SPONSORED BY:  JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING SETTLEMENT OF PENDING LITIGATION  

(Javen Dowthard et al. v. Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office, et al.) 
 

 
WHEREAS, (Javen Dowthard et al. v. Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office, et al.), is a 

pending civil action against the Sheriff’s Office Defendants, filed in the Seventeenth Judicial 
Circuit, Winnebago County, Illinois, as case number 2020-L-314; and 

WHEREAS, the Plaintiff therein has agreed to settle all claims he has against the 
Sheriff’s Office Defendants for the sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Finance Committee, after having reviewed the facts and circumstances 
of the aforementioned case and after having conferred with the Winnebago County State’s 
Attorney, through his special assistant state’s attorney, has determined it is in the best interests of 
the citizens of Winnebago County to settle this case on the terms set forth above. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that the Winnebago County State’s Attorney is hereby authorized to settle the 
aforementioned lawsuit by paying the Plaintiff therein the sum of Five Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($500,000.00). 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Winnebago County Treasurer, Winnebago 
County Clerk, and Winnebago County Finance Department are authorized and directed to 
prepare and deliver to the Winnebago County State’s Attorney one or more County Warrants 
totaling Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00); payable as directed by the State’s 
Attorney.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

 

 

 
 



Respectfully submitted, 
Finance Committee 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

 
 
 

  

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR  JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

PAUL ARENA  PAUL ARENA 

VALERIE HANSERD  VALERIE HANSERD 

JOE HOFFMAN  JOE HOFFMAN 

KEITH MCDONALD  KEITH MCDONALD  

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the  

 
County of Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of _________________________ 2026. 
 

 
 

ATTESTED BY: JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 
 



Economic Development 
 Committee 



 
Resolution Executive Summary 

   Committee Date: Monday, January 12, 2026  
   Committee: Economic Development 
   Prepared By: Chris Dornbush 
 

County Board Office 
404 Elm Street, Rm 533, Rockford, IL 61101 | wincoil.gov  

Phone: (815) 319- 4225 | E-mail: boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov   

 
Document Title:  Resolution Authorizing An Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement 

Among The County Of Winnebago, The Village Of New Milford, The Four 
Rivers Sanitation Authority, And JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC For 
Extension Of Sewer Line On Harrisville Road  

County Code:  
Board Meeting Date: Thursday, January 22, 2026 
 
Budget Information: 
 

Was item budgeted? No Appropriation Amount:    
Estimated County Portion $380,000  

If not, explain funding source:  
ORG - OBJ - Project Code: 41700 (Host Fees) Budget Impact: ~$380,000 

 
Background Information: 
 I-39 Baxter Road Corridor has been an economic development focus for the County since 
2011 and the establishment of the IJRL TIF’s in the Village of New Milford and Village of Cherry 
Valley. In 2024 the County Board approved the project (2024-CR-024) to extend the water main 
west of I-39 along Baxter Road to Harrisville Road intersection. This project will extend the sewer 
line north along Harrisville Road approximately 2,500 feet, which will take it just beyond the 
intersection of Baxter Road. The estimated total project cost for phase 1 is $1,518,259 that will be 
shared among the 4 parties; Winnebago County, Village of New Milford, Four Rivers Sanitation 
Authority, and JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC. Each party will be responsible for an approximate 
amount of $379,564.75 with the current project estimates (this estimate could fluctuate, but has a 
maximum of $500,000) for host fees to be utilized for the County’s portion. Extending this sewer 
line, will now make this area referenced in Exhibit C shovel ready for economic development 
projects. 
 
Recommendation:  

Winnebago County Administration supports the development and use of host fees to 
create shovel ready sites to increase the Equalized Assessed Value (EAV) and job growth, 
especially in the I-39 Baxter Road Corridor. 
 
Contract/Agreement: 
Yes, as attached with Resolution. 
 
Legal Review:   
Yes 
 
Follow-Up: 
Staff can provide updates as requested by Committee and/or County Board for the project 
progress. 

http://www.wincoil.us/
mailto:boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov


Sponsored by:  John Sweeney  County Board Meeting January 22, 2026 

RESOLUTION  
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

SUBMITTED BY: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

2026 CR _______ 
 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL  

COOPERATION AGREEMENT AMONG THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, THE 
VILLAGE OF NEW MILFORD, THE FOUR RIVERS SANITATION AUTHORITY, 
AND JMD REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS, LLC FOR EXTENSION OF SEWER LINE  

ON HARRISVILLE ROAD  
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago (“County”), Illinois, Village of New Milford 
(“Village”), Four Rivers Sanitation Authority (“FRSA”), and JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC 
(“Developer”) (collectively “Parties”) are partnering to extend the sewer line approximately 2,500 
feet north along Harrisville Road just beyond the Baxter Road intersection to spur economic 
development; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it would be in the public interest to enter into the attached “Intergovernmental 
Agreement for Sewer Extension Cost Sharing and Reimbursement Rockford Southeast Trunk – 
North Branch Phase 1” (“Agreement”) for the extension of sewer on Harrisville Road to Baxter 
Road; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village proposes to construct the “Project” (hereinafter defined) as an 
additional section of sewer main to be a part of the existing Rockford Southeast Trunk sewer to 
serve certain properties west of I-39, and adjacent to both Baxter Road and Harrisville Road. The 
properties to be served by the trunk sewer are those properties within the Rockford Southeast 
Trunk Basin as shown on “Exhibit A”, attached hereto and made a part hereof. The general project 
alignment and immediate service area is shown on “Exhibit C”, attached hereto and made a part 
hereof. The exact alignment has not been determined at this time and is subject to FRSA review 
and approval; and 
 
 WHEREAS, FRSA, subject to the availability of funding, intends to fund twenty-five 
percent (25%) of eligible Project costs. Village shall fund twenty-five percent (25%) of eligible 
Project costs. County shall fund twenty-five percent (25%) of eligible Project costs. Developer 
shall fund twenty-five (25%) of eligible Project costs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, FRSA, Village, and County, as units of local government and public 
agencies, are authorized by Article VII, Section 10a of the Illinois Constitution of 1970, by the 
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act (5 ILCS 220/1 et seq.) and by Division 147 of the Illinois 
Municipal Code to contract or otherwise associate with one another in any manner not prohibited 
by law or ordinance using their credit, revenues and other resources to pay costs such as the design, 



construction and inspection of the sanitary sewer system repairs contemplated by this Agreement; 
and 

 WHEREAS, FRSA is authorized to enact ordinances assessing connection charges against 
new or additional users of its sewer system under Section 7 of the Sanitary District Act of 1917 
(70 ILCS 2405/0.1), hereinafter the 1917 Act, as amended, which provides such charges must be 
fair and responsible, and the Parties wish to provide for a reimbursement arrangement in 
compliance with that requirement, recognizing that future system changes or other unforeseen 
contingencies may dictate modification of connection charges for new or additional users in 
accordance with the actual benefit provided to them by the Project. The Parties wish to specify 
responsibilities for construction and the scope of construction. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Chairman of the County Board is hereby authorized to execute on 
behalf of the County of Winnebago, Illinois the attached “Intergovernmental Agreement for Sewer 
Extension Cost Sharing and Reimbursement Rockford Southeast Trunk – North Branch Phase 1” 
(“Agreement”) with the Village of New Milford (Village), Four Rivers Sanitation Authority 
(“FRSA”), and JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC (“Developer”)  in substantially the form attached 
hereto; and  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the attached Agreement entered into shall not 
become effective and binding unless and until the respective Parties have executed the Agreement; 
and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed to 
prepare and deliver one (1) certified copy of this Resolution to the Winnebago County Auditor, 
Winnebago County Chief Operations Officer, Winnebago County Engineer, Winnebago County 
Finance Director, and Winnebago County Administrator. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



     Respectfully submitted 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
  AGREE  DISAGREE 

   

JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIRMAN  JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIRMAN 

TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR  TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR 

FREDDY DE LA TRINIDAD  FREDDY DE LA TRINIDAD 

ANGELA FELLARS  ANGELA FELLARS 

BRAD LINDMARK  BRAD LINDMARK 

JOHN PENNEY  JOHN PENNEY 

RAY THOMPSON  RAY THOMPSON 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2026. 

 

ATTESTED BY: 
 

 JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 
 



 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR SEWER EXTENSION COST SHARING AND 
REIMBURSEMENT 

ROCKFORD SOUTHEAST TRUNK - NORTH BRANCH PHASE 1 
 
 
 This Intergovernmental Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of the        day of              
January 2026 by and between: 
 
 
Four Rivers Sanitation Authority 
an Illinois unit of local government 
with its offices located at 
3501 Kishwaukee Street 
Rockford, IL  61109 
hereinafter referred to as . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . .. . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . “FRSA” 

and 
Village of New Milford 
an Illinois municipal corporation 
with its office located at 
6771 11th Street 
Rockford, IL  61109 
hereinafter referred to as . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . “VILLAGE” 
 

and 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
A body politic corporate 
with its office located at 
404 Elm Street 
Rockford, IL  61101 
hereinafter referred to as . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . …….  . “COUNTY” 

 
and 

JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC 
an Illinois limited liability company 
with its office located at 
4752 Baxter Road 
Rockford, IL  61109 
hereinafter referred to as . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . .  . .  . “DEVELOPER”, 
 
with FRSA, Village, County or Developer herein individually as “Party” and collectively as the 
“Parties”.    
 
 RECITALS 
 

1. VILLAGE proposes to construct the PROJECT (hereinafter defined) as an additional section 
of sewer main to be a part of the existing Rockford Southeast Trunk sewer to serve certain 
properties west of I-39, and adjacent to both Baxter Road and Harrisville Road. The properties 



 Page 2 of 8  
 
 

to be served by the trunk sewer are those properties within the Rockford Southeast Trunk Basin 
as shown on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof. The general project alignment 
and immediate service area is shown on Exhibit C, attached hereto and made a part hereof. The 
exact alignment has not been determined at this time and is subject to FRSA review and 
approval. 

2. FRSA, subject to the availability of funding, intends to fund twenty-five percent (25%) of 
eligible PROJECT costs. VILLAGE shall fund twenty-five percent (25%) of eligible 
PROJECT costs. COUNTY shall fund twenty-five percent (25%) of eligible PROJECT costs. 
DEVELOPER shall fund twenty-five (25%) of eligible PROJECT costs. 

3. When PROJECT is completed to FRSA’s satisfaction and in accordance with FRSA standards, 
including evidence satisfactory to FRSA that all contractors and material have been paid for 
the PROJECT, FRSA will accept ownership of the trunk sewer system and be responsible for 
its maintenance. 

4. VILLAGE shall be responsible for securing professional services for the performance of field 
work, preparation of plans, specifications, bid and contract documents, securing easements 
acceptable to FRSA and obtaining FRSA/Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) 
Permit to Construct and Operate, field staking and preparation of record drawings. 

5. FRSA, VILLAGE, and COUNTY, as units of local government and public agencies, are 
authorized by Article VII, Section 10a of the Illinois Constitution of 1970, by the 
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act (5 ILCS 220/1 et seq.) and by Division 147 of the Illinois 
Municipal Code to contract or otherwise associate with one another in any manner not 
prohibited by law or ordinance using their credit, revenues and other resources to pay costs 
such as the design, construction and inspection of the sanitary sewer system repairs 
contemplated by this Agreement. 

6. FRSA is authorized to enact ordinances assessing connection charges against new or additional 
users of its sewer system under Section 7 of the Sanitary District Act of 1917 (70 ILCS 
2405/0.1), hereinafter the 1917 Act, as amended, which provides such charges must be fair and 
responsible, and the Parties wish to provide for a reimbursement arrangement in compliance 
with that requirement, recognizing that future system changes or other unforeseen 
contingencies may dictate modification of connection charges for new or additional users in 
accordance with the actual benefit provided to them by the PROJECT. The Parties wish to 
specify responsibilities for construction and the scope of construction. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and for other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the 
Parties, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. Recitals. 
The recitals constitute a material part of this Agreement and are hereby incorporated into 
this Agreement as though fully set forth herein. 

 
2. Project Location and Description. 

The “Project” is located in Sections 29 and 32, Township 43 North, Range 2 East and is 
comprised of 18-inch diameter gravity sewer connecting to the existing 21-inch diameter 



 Page 3 of 8  
 
 

Rockford Southeast Trunk in the vicinity of existing FRSA manholes 198-015 and 198-
016  located within the existing Right-of-Way of Harrisville Road approximately 2,300 
feet south of Baxter Road extending north approximately 2,500 feet to serve certain 
properties west of I-39, and adjacent to both Baxter Road and Harrisville Road (hereinafter 
“PROJECT”). Properties to be served by the trunk sewer are those properties within the 
Rockford Southeast Trunk Basin as shown on Exhibit A. A legal description of the 
Rockford Southeast Trunk Basin boundary is provided in Exhibit B. The general PROJECT 
alignment is shown on Exhibit C. The exact sewer alignment and sizing have not been 
determined at this time and are subject to FRSA review and approval. 
 

3. Project Responsibilities. 
a. Design: VILLAGE shall cause the field survey work, design, plan, specification and 

bid document preparation and securing of the FRSA/IEPA permit necessary to 
construct PROJECT. FRSA shall be responsible for reviewing the plans for 
conformance with FRSA requirements, permit application review and issuance of the 
Permit to Construct and Operate. 

b. Easements: Any easements required to carry out the PROJECT will be secured by 
VILLAGE. The Standard FRSA form and language shall be used for all applicable 
easement documents. FRSA shall review all easement documents prior to their 
execution. Triplicate original signature documents will be required for each easement. 
FRSA will record the easements after full execution. 

c. Bidding and Contract Administration: VILLAGE shall publicly bid PROJECT, advise 
FRSA, COUNTY, and DEVELOPER in writing of the results and seek concurrence 
by all Parties in the award, enter into contract for PROJECT with the selected 
contractor. VILLAGE shall perform the contract administration for PROJECT. 
Contract administration shall include construction management, review and approval 
of shop drawings, preparation of payment requests and review of certified payrolls as 
required. 

d. Construction: Construction may be initiated when FRSA has received all necessary 
easements, issued a Permit to Construct and Operate, received payment for all 
plan/permit review fees, and received a copy of an IEPA National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) General Stormwater Permit for construction. 
VILLAGE shall cause the field work needed for construction staking. FRSA shall be 
responsible for the construction inspection. 

e. Construction Payments: VILLAGE shall pay for the construction of PROJECT in the 
manner established by its contract with the successful bidder. VILLAGE may 
thereafter invoice FRSA, COUNTY, and DEVELOPER for their share of 
reimbursable costs on a monthly basis. Each invoice shall include a tabulation of the 
work accomplished in the previous month and to date, the previous payments made 
to the contractor, the remaining payments to be made in accordance with the 
PROJECT, and copies of waivers of lien for payments made by the VILLAGE. 

i. FRSA shall make payment to VILLAGE for its reimbursable share by the end 
of the month for invoices received prior to the fifth (5th) day of the month. 
FRSA shall make payment to VILLAGE by the end of the following month 
for invoices received after the fifth (5th) day of the month. 



 Page 4 of 8  
 
 

f. Change Orders: Approved change orders shall be paid by the Parties in amounts 
proportional to their eligible contributions toward the original contract amount 
established by this Agreement. VILLAGE shall seek prior concurrence from FRSA 
COUNTY and DEVELOPER for any change order. Change orders which do not 
cause the total PROJECT costs to exceed $2 million ($500,000 per Party) will be 
approved by the following individuals: 

i. the COUNTY Board Chairman on behalf of the COUNTY; 
ii. the Executive Director of FRSA on behalf of FRSA; 

iii. the President of the VILLAGE on behalf of the VILLAGE; and  
iv. Martin Maggio on behalf of DEVELOPER. 

 
4. Project Costs. 

a. Total Project Costs: Total PROJECT costs are estimated at about $1,518,259.00 as set 
forth in Exhibit D. Permit application fees will be considered part of the trunk sewer 
costs. Inspection and ordinance fee costs will be attributed to PROJECT costs as 
applicable. 

i. If the total PROJECT costs were to exceed $2 million ($500,000 per Party), 
then further written approval would be needed by the Parties. 

b. Cost Changes: The Parties recognize that the actual total PROJECT costs may differ 
from the presently estimated costs. In the event that the actual cost of the PROJECT 
is different than estimated, and subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 3.f and 4.a 
above, each Party’s share shall be limited to percentages defined in Recital No. 2.   
 

5. Connection Charges. 
 Except as otherwise provided herein, all property within this Rockford Southeast Trunk Basin 

shall be charged a connection charge consisting of a basin charge and plant buy-in charge. By 
FRSA ordinance, the basin charge consists of a construction cost and carrying cost 
component. Basin fees are reviewed annually and at the completion of each phase of a trunk 
sewer system construction, and may be adjusted from time to time. Plant buy-in charges are 
subject to adjustment by the FRSA Board of Trustees. Connection fee adjustments and the 
imposition of other connection charges are subject to change without prior notice except at 
provided in Paragraph 7. In all cases, basin and plant buy-in fees shall be collected in 
accordance with current FRSA Ordinances. 

 
6. Collection and Distribution of Connection Charges. 

With respect to each parcel within the basin shown in Exhibit A and described in Exhibit B 
from which FRSA collects a Rockford Southeast Trunk Basin Connection Fee, FRSA shall 
remit to VILLAGE, COUNTY, AND DEVELOPER that part of the basin fee which is 
described in Exhibit E. Basin fees and the amount of reimbursement are subject to adjustment 
based on the actual cost of PROJECT and cost of previously constructed and remainder to be 
constructed of the Rockford Southeast Trunk sewer system. The basin connection fee includes 
the carrying cost component. 
 
FRSA shall withhold an administrative fee for the processing of basin connection charges 
collected in accordance with Paragraph 7. FRSA shall withhold a three and one-half percent 



 Page 5 of 8  
 
 

(3.5%) administrative fee for collection of basin connection charges which require distribution 
to other agencies and Parties. FRSA shall distribute all basin connection fees, less the 
administrative fee within this basin in accordance with the amounts shown in Exhibit E, 
however, the distribution shall be based upon actual, rather than estimated costs for 
PROJECT. 
 

7. Connection Charge Changes. 
In view of the fact that future system changes or other unforeseen contingencies may dictate 
modification of FRSA’s Code of Ordinances concerning connection charges, FRSA may, 
without liability to the other Parties hereto, modify the connection charges to be collected or 
the amounts to be distributed hereunder to other Parties if that is necessary in order to make 
those connection charges fair and reasonable in light of such changed circumstances as 
required by law. FRSA acknowledges that that in light of present facts and circumstances and 
FRSA’s knowledge of the cost and benefits associated with the extension of sewer services, 
the connection charges provided in its Code of Ordinances are fair, reasonable and consistent 
with the actual benefit provided by the extension. FRSA shall also have discretion to adjust 
connection charges so as to fairly and reasonably spread the connection charges for the trunk 
sewer system based on actual costs as portion of the system are constructed and utilizing 
estimate costs for the remainder of the trunk sewer system and also based on changes to the 
land use or official land use plans within the drainage basin. Basin connection charges may 
be adjusted for inflation by use of the Construction Cost Index (CCI) found in the Engineering 
News Record, or if the Index is unavailable, through the use of a comparable index, all as 
provided by FRSA’s Code of Ordinances. 

 
8. Contract Award. 

 This Agreement is subject to concurrence in the award of a contract for the construction of 
PROJECT by the Parties. In the event all Parties do not approve the award of a contract, this 
Agreement shall be null and void. The preliminary cost estimate for PROJECT is 
$1,518,259.00. 

9. Cost Changes. 
The Parties recognize that cost changes may occur after award of a construction contract. In 
the event that a cost change is submitted by the contractor, the Parties shall consider the 
request and not withhold their respective approval of reasonable cost change requests from 
the contractor. Documentation of cost impacts and justification shall be submitted for review 
prior to approval of any change request. 

10.  Notices. 
 Any notice to the Parties by or relating to this Agreement shall be sent by first-class U.S. mail 

or hand delivered to: 
 

FRSA: VILLAGE: 
Matthew L. Campbell, PE Timothy Owens 
Director of Engineering President 
Four Rivers Sanitation Authority Village of New Milford 



 Page 6 of 8  
 
 

3501 Kishwaukee Street 6771 11th Street 
Rockford, IL 61109 Rockford, IL 61109 
  
COUNTY: DEVELOPER: 
Joseph V. Chiarelli Martin Maggio 
Chairman of the County Board Manager 
County of Winnebago JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC 
404 Elm Street 4752 Baxter Road 
Rockford, IL  61101 Rockford, IL  61109 

 
11. Enactment of Appropriate Approval 

Each Party shall duly approve and authorize this Agreement as respectively permitted by law. 
12. Recording 

FRSA shall, in addition to its share of the cost of PROJECT, record this Agreement, absent 
Exhibit A, in the Recorder’s Office of Winnebago County, Illinois, so that all present and 
future owners of property subject to the connection charges provided for herein may have 
recorded notice of their potential liability for such charges. Recording charges are eligible 
costs related to PROJECT. 

13. General Provisions 
a. Authority of Developer. If Developer is a corporation, each individual executing 

this Agreement on behalf of Developer represents and warrants that he or she has 
full authority to do so and that this Agreement binds the corporation. If Developer 
is a partnership, each individual, executing this Agreement for Developer 
represents and warrants that he, she or it is a general partner of the partnership, that 
he, she or it has full authority to sign for the partnership and that this Agreement 
binds the partnership and all general partners of the partnership. If Developer is a 
limited liability company, each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of 
Developer represents and warrants that he or she has full authority to do so and that 
this Agreement binds the limited liability company. If Developer is a trust, each 
individual executing this Agreement on behalf of Developer presents and warrants 
that he or she has full authority to do so and that this Agreement binds the trust.  

b. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall inure to and shall be binding upon all 
successors and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

c. Counterparts/Facsimile.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts and by facsimile copy or “PDF” copy delivered by electronic mail, 
each of which shall be deemed to be an original instrument and all of which taken 
together shall constitute a single instrument. 

d. Entire Agreement.  This document represents the complete Agreement of the 
Parties and supersedes any prior agreements or understandings relating to the 
Property to the extent that they are inconsistent with its terms. 



 Page 7 of 8  
 
 

e. Marginal Headings. Other than as expressly defined in this Agreement, the 
marginal headings, paragraph titles and section titles of this Agreement are not a 
part of this Agreement and shall have no effect upon the construction or 
interpretation of any Party hereof. 

f. Partial Invalidity. If any provision of this Agreement is deemed to be invalid, void, 
or illegal, such provision shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any other 
provision hereof and such other provision shall remain in full force and effect. 

g. Successors and Assigns. The covenants and conditions herein contained, apply to 
and bind the heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns of the Parties 
hereto. 

h. Time. Time is of the essence of this Agreement and each and all its provisions in 
which performance is a factor. 

i. Waiver. The waiver by either Party of any term, covenant or condition herein 
contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, covenant or condition 
or any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition 
herein contained.  

j. Amendments. This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of all 
Parties.  

k. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Illinois.  Any suit necessary to enforce the terms hereof 
shall be brought before the 17th Judicial Circuit Court of Winnebago County, 
Illinois.  

l. Assignment. No Party shall assign this Agreement without the prior written 
approval of the other Parties.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands and seals on the day and year first 
above written. 
 
Four Rivers Sanitation Authority   Village of New Milford 
An Illinois unit of local government   An Illinois Municipal Corporation 
 
 
By        By        
 President, Board of Trustees    President 
 
ATTEST:      ATTEST: 
 
 
By        By        
 Clerk, Board of Trustees    Clerk 
 
 



 Page 8 of 8  
 
 
County of Winnebago, Illinois   JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC  
A body politic corporate    An Illinois limited liability company 
 
 
By        By        
 Chairman of the County Board of the   Martin Maggio, its Manager  
 County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
By         
 Lori Gummow  
 Clerk of the County Board of the 
 County of Winnebago, Illinois      
 
Prepared by & Return to: 
Four Rivers Sanitation Authority 
Matthew L. Campbell, Director of Engineering 
3501 Kishwaukee Street  
Rockford, IL 61109 
(815) 387-7660 
 



Rockford Southeast Trunk Basin

Pump Station

Sanitary Main

Force Main

Rockford Southeast
Trunk Basin

Exhibit A

0 0.25 0.5
Miles



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
Legal Description; Rockford SE Trunk Basin 

 
 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION TO BE PROVIDED 
 
 



Rockford Southeast Trunk Basin, North Branch
New Milford / Harrisville Road

Existing Sanitary Sewer

Proposed Sewer Alignment

North Branch
Ultimate Service Area

±1,000 Acres

Immediate Service Area
± 90 Acres

Exhibit C



EXHIBIT D 
Project Cost Estimate; Rockford SE Trunk – North Branch Phase 1 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Estimated Cost 
18-Inch Sanitary Trunk Sewer 2486 LF  $      200.00   $                497,200.00  
Sanitary Manholes, 5 FT Diameter 8 Each  $   8,000.00   $                  64,000.00  
Connect to Existing Sanitary Manhole, w/ Drop 1 Each  $ 15,000.00   $                  15,000.00  
Rock Excavation 2400 CY  $        65.00   $                156,000.00  
Sanitary Service, 6-Inch Diameter 6 Each  $   2,000.00   $                  12,000.00  
Trench Backfill 5500 CY  $        20.00   $                110,000.00  
Steel Casing Pipe, 30-Inch Diameter 120 LF  $      600.00   $                  72,000.00  
Traffic Control and Protection 1 LS  $ 15,000.00   $                  15,000.00  
Perimeter Soil Erosion Barrier 2500 LF  $          3.00   $                    7,500.00  
Ditch Checks 12 Each  $      500.00   $                    6,000.00  
Aggregate Base Course, 12-Inch 5500 SY  $        14.00   $                  77,000.00  
HMA Pavement, 3-Inch 5500 SY  $        20.00   $                110,000.00  
Topsoil, Seeding and Mulch 5000 SY  $          8.00   $                  40,000.00  

Construction =  $             1,181,700.00  
 Contingency (15%) =  $                177,255.00  
 Engineering & Inspection =   $                159,304.00  
 Total Project Estimate=   $             1,518,259.00  



EXHIBIT E 

I:I:\Agreements\BASIN\Rockford SE Trunk\North Branch\Harrisville\12-17-2025 UPDATE\6 - EXHIBIT E Rockford Southeast exhibit 12-4-2025.doc Rev 12/17/25 

BASIN CONNECTION FEE1 DISTRIBUTION CALCULATION 
ROCKFORD SOUTHEAST TRUNK SEWER BASIN 

 
1. Pump Station, Forcemain & Trunk Phase 1 Project Costs2 SA No. 106 & CIP No. 96-0547 
 Pump Station, Forcemain and Trunk at Airport 
 A. Construction Costs       A $  3,779,821.34 
 B. Engineering & Inspection Costs     B $     280,432.01 
 C. Total Project Costs       C $  4,060,253.35 
 
2. Trunk Phase 2 Pump Station to Rock 39 Project Costs2 
 D. Construction Costs 
    1. Pump Station to Lindenwood Road    D1 $  8,504,636.44 
    2. Lindenwood Road to Rock 39     D2 $  1,155,836.05 
 E. Engineering & Inspection Costs     E $     891,196.41 
 F. Total Project Costs       F $10,551,668.90 
 
3. Rock 39 Unit Three North-South Sewer Project Costs2 
 G. Construction/Project Costs      G $     950,891.08 
 
4. North Branch Project Costs2 – Estimated  
 H. Phase 1 Construction Costs      H $  1,358,955.00 
 I.  Phase 1 Engineering & Inspection Costs    I $     159,304.00 
 J. Phase 1 Total Project Costs      J $  1,518,259.00 
 K. Phase 2 Construction Costs (Regional PS and Trunk)  K $  4,685,000.00 
 L.  Phase 2 Engineering & Inspection Costs    L $     808,162.00 
 M. Phase 2 Total Project Costs     M $  5,493,162.00 
 
5. West Branch Project Costs2 – Estimated  
 N. Construction Costs       N $  4,523,500.00 
 O. Engineering & Inspection Costs     O $     780,303.00 
 P. Total Project Costs       P $  5,303,803.00 
 
6. New Milford Branch Project Costs2 – Estimated  
 Q. Construction Costs       Q $  4,121,974.00 
 R. Engineering & Inspection Costs     R $     711,040.00 
 S. Total Project Costs       S $  4,833,014.00 
 
7. Rockford Southeast Trunk System Costs2,6 – Actual and Estimated 
 T. Total System Project Costs [C+F+G+J+M+P+S]   T $32,711,051.33 
 
8. Rockford Southeast Trunk System Participation Costs 
 U. Pump Station, Forcemain & Airport Phase 12 
    1. FRSA   [C]     U1 $  4,060,253.35 
 V. Pump Station to Rock 39, Phase 22 
    1. FRSA   [F]     V1 $10,551,668.90 
 W. Rock 39 Unit Three North-South Sewer2 
    1. FRSA   [G]     W1 $     950,891.08 
 X. North Branch Phase 12,6 
    1. FRSA   [J; 25%]     X1 $     379,564.75 
    2. Village of New Milford [J; 25%]     X2 $     379,564.75 



Basin Connection Fee Distribution Calculation Page 2 
Rockford Southeast Trunk Sewer Basin 
 

 2/3 12/17/25 

   3. Winnebago County [J; 25%]    X3 $    379,564.75 
   4.  Maggio   [J; 25%]    X4 $    379,564.75 
 Y. North Branch Phase 2 
   1. Unfunded   [M]     Y1 $  5,493,162.00 
 Z. West Branch2,6 
    1. Unfunded   [P]     Z1 $  5,303,803.00 
 AA. New Milford Branch2,6 
    1. Unfunded   [S]     AA1 $  4,833,014.00 
 BB. Rockford Southeast Trunk System Total Basin Costs2,6 
    1. FRSA   [U1+V1+W1+X1]   BB1 $15,942,378.08 
    2. Village of New Milford [X2]     BB2 $     379,564.75 
    3. Winnebago County [X3]     BB3 $     379,564.75 
    4. Maggio   [X4]     BB4 $     379,564.75 
    5. Unfunded   [Y1+Z1+AA1]    BB5 $15,629,979.00 
 
9. Gross Basin Connection Fee Reimbursement Per ERU5,6,7 – Estimated  
 CC. Total Basin ERUs       CC           18,996 
 DD. Exempt/Served ERUs      DD                  242 
 EE. Chargeable ERUs       EE            18,754 
 FF. Basin Fee4,7 Per ERU      FF $         2,356.02 
 GG. FRSA   [FF*BB1/T]    GG $         1,148.25 
 HH. Village of New Milford [FF*BB2/T]    HH $     27.34 
 II. Winnebago County  [FF*BB3/T]    II $     27.34 
 JJ. Maggio   [FF*BB4/T]    JJ $     27.34 
 KK. Repository  [FF*BB5/T]    KK $          1,125.75 
 
10. FRSA Administrative Fee Per ERU6,7 – Estimated  
 LL. Village of New Milford [HH*0.035]    LL $                0.96 
 MM. Winnebago County [II*0.035]    MM $       0.96 
 NN. Maggio   [JJ*0.035]    NN $       0.96 
 OO. Total Administrative Fee [LL+MM+NN]   OO $                 2.88 
 
11. Net Basin Connection Fee Distribution Per ERU5,6,7 – Estimated  
 PP.  FRSA   [GG+OO]    PP $         1,151.13 
 QQ. Village of New Milford  [HH-LL]    QQ $     26.38 
 RR.  W innebago County [II-MM]    RR $     26.38 
 SS.  Maggio   [JJ-NN]    SS $     26.38 
 TT.  Repository  [KK]     TT $          1,125.75 
 
12. Date of Acceptance & Construction Cost Index 
 UU. Pump Station, Forcemain, Airport Trunk Ph. 1 UU   7721.34 6/26/2006 
 VV. Pump Station to Rock 39 Phase 2   VV   8804.79 6/28/2010 
 WW. Rock 39 Unit Three North-South Sewer  WW 10038.80 6/16/2015 
 XX. North Branch      XX _______ ________ 
 YY. West Branch      YY _______ ________ 
 ZZ. New Milford Branch     ZZ _______ ________ 
 
 



Basin Connection Fee Distribution Calculation Page 3 
Rockford Southeast Trunk Sewer Basin 
 

 3/3 12/17/25 

 
1 A plant buy-in connection fee must be added to the basin connection fee to establish the total connection fee. 
 
2 Excludes carrying costs. 
 
3 Existing Cost Sharing and Reimbursement Agreement. 
 
4 Basin connection fees consist of a construction cost component and a carrying cost component based upon the 

current basin configuration and portion of funded trunk sewers. Carrying costs are determined for a 50-year 
payback period at a 2.61% annual interest rate. Reimbursements include carrying costs calculated as noted. 

 
5 The District acts as the repository of the basin connection fee distribution balance pending completion of future 

agreements and construction. 
 
6 Final values for this Exhibit shall be based upon actual construction costs. 
 
7 Basin fee shown is subject to future change. 
 



Resolution Executive Summary 
Committee Date: Monday, January 12, 2026  
Committee: Economic Development 
Prepared By: Chris Dornbush 

County Board Office 
404 Elm Street, Rm 533, Rockford, IL 61101 | wincoil.gov  

Phone: (815) 319- 4225 | E-mail: boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov 

Document Title:  Resolution Granting One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) From Host 
Fees To The Winnebago County Rail Authority (WCRA) To Establish A 
Dedicated Site Acquisition Fund And Support Regional Economic Growth 

County Code: 2019-CR-119, Resolution Concerning The Policy For The Process For Awarding, 
Recommending, Evaluating And Approval Of Host Fee Funds To Other Entities, 
“Annual Host Fee Award Policy” 

Board Meeting Date: Thursday, January 22, 2026 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted? No Appropriation Amount:   $100,000 
If not, explain funding source:   
ORG - OBJ - Project Code: Host Fees Budget Impact: $100,000 

Background Information: 
Winnebago County Rail Authority (WCRA) Board is established by Illinois State Statute 

70 ILCS 5/22.1 as a tax-exempt entity, created June 26, 2008 by the Greater Rockford Airport 
Authority (GRAA) Board. The WCRA has the power to provide non-rail transportation services, 
conduct feasibility studies, set and collect fares or other charges for the use of rail or other facilities, 
borrow money and issue bonds or notes, apply for, receive, and expend grants, loans, or other 
funds from the state or federal government agencies, buy, sell, lease, contract assets and property, 
own public infrastructure and public right-of-way making them an impactful economic 
development instrument for the region. The WRCA are requesting $100,000 (host fees) to assist 
with the establishment of a site acquisition (site readiness) fund to expedite enticement for projects. 
$250,000 have already been secured by the private sector. The current focus area is on the County 
border, south of the airport where connectivity exists for rail and highways (State & Interstate). 

Recommendation: 
Winnebago County supports economic growth to our region, especially with projects that 

possess a positive impact on the Equalized Assessed Value (EAV) and job growth. 

Contract/Agreement: 
NA 
Legal Review:   
Yes 
Follow-Up: 
Staff can follow-up with the Winnebago County Rail Authority as requested by Committee or 
County Board.

http://www.wincoil.us/
mailto:boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov


Sponsored by:  John Sweeney  County Board Meeting January 22, 2026 
         

RESOLUTION 
 of the  
 COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 SUBMITTED BY:  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 
 2026 CR _________ 
 

RESOLUTION GRANTING ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($100,000) 
FROM HOST FEES TO THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY RAIL AUTHORITY (WCRA) 

TO ESTABLISH A DEDICATED SITE ACQUISITION FUND AND SUPPORT 
REGIONAL ECONOMIC GROWTH  

 
WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago (hereinafter, “County”), Illinois supports the 

growth of economic development for the region, particularly when projects increase the equalize 
assessed value, which the Winnebago County Rail Authority (hereinafter “WCRA”), can 
facilitate in such a role; and  

 
WHEREAS, WCRA, a body politic and corporate and a public corporation, as 

established by Illinois State Statute 70 ILCS 5/22.1 et seq. (the “Statute”), shall be considered a 
tax-exempt entity; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 22.3 of the Statute, WCRA has the power to provide 

non-rail transportation services, conduct feasibility studies, set and collect fares or other charges 
for the use of rail or other facilities, borrow money and issue bonds or notes, apply for, receive, 
and expend grants, loans, or other funds from the state or federal government agencies, buy, sell, 
lease, contract assets and property, own public infrastructure and public right-of-way; and 

 
WHEREAS, the WCRA is empowered to secure and deploy funding to catalyze 

infrastructure in support of industrial development and has already received Two-Hundred and 
Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) for site readiness from the private sector; and 

 
WHEREAS, the One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) from Host Fees would 

support the WCRA and regional economic growth by covering site readiness costs for projects, 
which expediates the speed of response to shovel ready sites giving the County an economic 
advantage; and 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that the County of Winnebago, Illinois will grant One Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($100,000.00) from Host Fees to the Winnebago County Rail Authority (WCRA) for a 
dedicated site acquisition fund and support economic growth of the region. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby 
authorized to prepare and deliver a certified copy of this Resolution to the Winnebago County 
Chief Operating Officer, County Administrator, the County Auditor, and the County Finance 
Director. 



 

Respectfully submitted, 
Economic Development Committee 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

 
 
 

  

JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIRMAN  JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIRMAN 

TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR  TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR 

FREDDY DE LA TRINIDAD  FREDDY DE LA TRINIDAD 

ANGELA FELLARS  ANGELA FELLARS 

BRAD LINDMARK  BRAD LINDMARK 

JOHN PENNEY  JOHN PENNEY 

RAY THOMPSON  RAY THOMPSON 
 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2026. 
 

 
 

ATTESTED BY: JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



WINNEBAGO COUNTY RAIL AUTHORITY
ROCKFORD AIRPORT ׀ 2/22/2024



Topics
 What is the Rail Authority?
 Origin & Governance
 State Statute – What can the Rail Authority Do?

 Rail-Served Industrial Park
 Cross Roads of Regional Logistics Network
 Site Readiness 

 Development Opportunity
 Project Milkweed
 Energy Feasibility Study & Grant Opportunity



What is the Rail Authority?



Rail Authority Origin & Governance

 Illinois State Statute authorizes Winnebago County to establish a Rail Authority (70 
ILCS 5/22.1)

 Statute specifies that members shall be comprised of the GRAA board plus additional 
appointments

 Statute allows for the Winnebago County Chairman to appoint up to 3 additional Rail 
Authority board members with the advise and consent of the Rail Authority

 Statute also allows for the Rail Authority to negotiate with other strategic counties to 
include additional Rail Authority board seats and membership



Rail Authority Origin & Governance

 GRAA acting as the Rail Authority Board approved IGA w/ R1 Planning Council on 
March 23, 2023, Resolution #23-01

 IGA stipulates that Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Executive Director is 
Executive Director of Rail Authority.  That individual also reports to the same GRAA 
appointing authorities plus Belvidere’s Mayor and the Boone County Chairman.

 Region 1 Planning Council is the Federally designated MPO for Winnebago County 
and will administer and operate the Rail Authority on behalf of the Rail Authority 
Board, working in colloboration with GRAA’s executive director.



Federal & State Partners

Federal & State Programs





Governance Diagram 

GRAA

Winnebago 
Co. Rail 

Authority 
Board

WinnebagoMachesney 
Park

Rockford Loves Park

Appoints 2 Members

Appoints 3 Members

Appoints 1 Member

Appoints 1 Member

Same Board Members

• Ability to add up to 3 new 
members from Winnebago County

• Needs consent of the Rail Authority 
Board

Completely Separate Entities

The Executive Director 
of the Rail Authority is 
the Executive Director 

of the Federal MPO

LP MP COR WC



State Statute - What can the Rail Authority do?
 The Rail Authority can:
 Provide non-rail transportation services within Winnebago County
 Additional counties can be added, as agreed by the Board of the Rail Authority

 Set and collect fares or other charges for the use of rail or other facilities of the 
Rail Authority

 Borrow money and issue bonds or notes by Board-approved resolution
 Apply for, receive, and expend grants, loans, or other funds from the state or 

federal government agencies
 Buy, Sell, Lease, Contract assets and property.  Own public infrastructure and 

public right-of-way



State Statute - What can the Rail Authority do?

 The Rail Authority IS THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY, and you are it’s board of directors



Rail-Served Industrial Park 



Northern Illinois Logistics Network



Rochelle 
Rail Port 

Regional Rail Infrastructure

 There is a Rockford/Winnebago Co. 1,400 acre site that sits at the crossroads of Northern Illinois’ logistics network

 A Rail-Served Industrial Park at this site would not compete with Rochelle’s two (2) rail ports but would rather be 
complementary 

 Like Rochelle, The Rockford site would attract rail-dependent industry as it creates a more competitive rail transportation 
market between the UP, BNSF, and CN 



Site Specifics
 More than 1,400 acres at the northwest corner of IL-251 and Edson Road

 Immediately south of the Chicago-Rockford International Airport

 Sits within our Foreign Trade Zone

 Allows trans-loading opportunities for industry for receiving and shipping both rail:interstate and air 
cargo:interstate

 Adjacent to existing Omnitrax’s short-line Illinois Railway
 Short line rail infrastructure connecting to Four (4) Class-1 railroads within 20 miles of the site, including 

Canadian National, Canadian Pacific, Union Pacific, and Burlington Northern Santa Fe

 Offers rail service to ports on both east (via Chicago) and west coasts, Canada, and Mexico

 State and interstate highways
 I-90, I-88, I-43 and I-39 all within 20 minutes of the site

 IL-251 and U.S. 20 also are listed on the Critical U.S. Freight System Network







Site Utilities
 Site sits within City of Rockford limits and is zoned I-2 for General Industry

 Public water (City of Rockford) and wastewater utility (Four Rivers Sanitation Authority) mains are at 
the northeast corner of the property with capacity for proposed land use

 Electric service provided by ComEd

 High-voltage transmission main along Edson Road, with three-phase service available to the site

 Natural gas supplied by Nicor

 High-pressure main approximately one mile east of the site

 Communications networks within immediate vicinity include access to fiber and option for high-speed 
internet

 AT&T, Frontier, Comcast, Choice One Communications, iFiber





Site Development Needs
 Fehr Graham feasibility study completed in 2014 for the Rail Authority and again in January 2023 

details infrastructure requirements and costs estimates for development

 Site development improvements necessary to take full advantage of existing land use classification 
include:
 Additional rail tracks for industry and storage

 Internal roadway network buildout combined with upgrades to IL-251 and Edson Road

 Utility extension to build out storm water management, storm sewer, water, and wastewater

 Mass grading to prepare site for rail, shared water detention, building pads, and solar

 Estimated cost: $82 million

 Rail and structural upgrades to existing Omnitrax lines from Airport Road, south, to Flagg Center to 
connect with the Rochelle Intermodal Terminal



Development Opportunity



Project Milkweed
 Project Milkweed is a proposed waste-to-energy facility that would utilize the CO2 emissions from nearby landfills and 

green hydrogen derived from water that has undergone electrolysis to then produce Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF)

 This project aligns with current environmental sustainability initiatives and postures the region to become a focal point 
of cutting-edge green energy technologies

 The completion of this project would justify greater infrastructure investment at the site, spurring further development 
and business attraction 



Energy Feasibility Study & Grant Opportunity

 The electrolysis process, which separates the hydrogen and oxygen atoms within water molecules, is 
energy-intensive, and the scale of the proposed facility would draw a significant amount of power 
from the Region’s power grid

 To move forward with Project Milkweed, an energy feasibility study examining the current capacity 
of the Region’s power grid is required  

 This energy feasibility study would benefit not only Project Milkweed but the site as a whole and 
any other future prospective industrial users 

 The IL Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity (DCEO) is in the process of releasing a 
targeted Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) for this energy feasibility study



Looking Ahead
 Short-Term

 Apply for DCEO Grant  

 Resume Regular Meetings of the Rail Authority

 Long-Term

 Conduct Energy Feasibility Study

 Proceed with Project Milkweed

 Continue to expand Infrastructure at the site incrementally 

 Explore other Waste-to-Energy/Waste Management projects to address both landfill’s 
capacity issue  



Operations & 
Administrative 

 Committee 



Resolution Executive Summary 
For CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: January 15, 2026 
Board Date:  January 22, 2026     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of One Civil Processing Vehicle for the 

Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office Using CIP 2026 Funds  

Budget Information 
Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $75,000 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?  
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $75,000 
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $4,643  
Reason for CIP increase? 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 82200-46410-C2611    Descriptor: CIP 2026 Automobile 
Budget Impact? $70,357 

Background Information: The Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office (WCSO) requested the purchase 
of one (1) 2025 Ford Explorer - Police Interceptor Vehicle using CIP 2026 funds. The Purchasing 
Department and the Sheriff’s Office reached out for quotes and availability.  Stivers Ford & Stivers 
Midwest Pro Upfitters provided vehicle quotes and specialized outfitting options (See Resolution 
Exhibit A).  This is a cost-effective option for the County utilizing government pricing. It also 
provides a one-stop shop for all vehicle outfitting. The department is able to reuse a police radio 
and axon camera for this vehicle to reduce the equipment expenses.  

Civil Processing Vehicle Breakdown 

1 Police Interceptor Vehicle  $    47,850 

Outfitting Vendor  $    18,238 

Equipment (Entre Computer Solutions)  $   4,269 

Total  $    70,357 

Recommended By:  Sheriff Gary Caruana and Deputy Chief Ryan Heavin  

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will issue Purchase Orders accordingly. 



    County Board Meeting: January 22, 2026 
 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
Sponsored by:   Paul Arena  
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 
 

2026 CR 
 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF ONE CIVIL PROCESSING VEHICLE FOR THE  
WINNEBAGO COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE USING CIP 2026 FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000.00 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office requested the purchase of One Civil 
Processing Vehicle, a 2025 Ford Explorer, using CIP 2026 funds; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department and the Sheriff’s Office obtained quotes for price 
and delivery, resulting in the lowest price and best lead time from Stivers Ford; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Operations & Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 

County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the quotes for the Civil Processing Vehicle and 
Vehicle Outfitting, (Resolution Exhibit A) and recommends awarding the purchases to Stivers 
Ford and Entre Computer Solutions, respectively. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue Purchase Orders, 
on behalf of the County of Winnebago, Illinois to Stivers Ford, 1450 E. Hickman Road, 
Waukee, Iowa in the amount of $66,088 and Broski Enterprises, Inc. DBA Entre Computer 
Solutions, 8900 N. 2nd Street, Machesney Park, Illinois, in the amount of $4,269.  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and 
deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Finance Director, 
County Administrator, County Sheriff, County Board Office and County Auditor.    
 
 
 
 
 



Respectfully Submitted, 
       OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 
 
 

 PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 

KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
 

 MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2026. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Stivers Ford 

Waukee, IA

Anderson Rock River 

Ford Rockford, IL

Morrow Brothers 

Greenfield, IL

2025 Police Interceptor 47,850$   48,251$     48,830$    

Outfitting 18,238$   18,238$     18,238$    

Total 66,088$   66,489$     67,068$    

QUOTE TAB
25NB-2455 

ONE CIVIL PROCESSING VEHICLE FOR WCSO

 USING CIP 2026 FUNDS

Resolution Exhibit A



















Entré Computer Solutions
8900 North 2nd Street

Machesney Park IL 61115
(815) 399-5664     FAX: (815) 399-5717

Date Quote #

11/19/25 ENTQ53682

Customer: WINNEBAGO COUNTY SHERIFf's Ship To: WINNEBAGO COUNTY SHERIFf's 
Michaela Bradley Michaela Bradley
650 WEST STATE STREET
ROCKFORD, IL 61102

650 WEST STATE STREET
ROCKFORD, IL 61102

815-319-4300 Phone: 815-319-4300Phone:
Fax: Fax:

Terms Rep Prepared by P.O. Number Ship Via

Drew JeffS

Qty Description Unit Price Ext. Price

 1  $2,552.55  $2,552.55Getac S410 Rugged 14" Laptop - Windows OS - w/ 3 Year Limited Warranty

 1  $664.78  $664.78Getac Bumper-to-Bumper - 5 Year Warranty - Maintenance - Parts & Labor - Physical

 1  $893.67  $893.67Getac Docking Station

 1  $108.06  $108.06Getac Vehicle Adapter - 120 W - 12 V DC, 24 V DC Input

* NOTE:

- This proposal does not include a labor estimate.

- Due to the recent tariffs, we must inform you that we may not be able to honor this pricing.
The tariffs may significantly impact our costs, making it challenging to adhere to the quoted
price. Every effort will be made to ensure that we provide the lowest possible price (quoted),
but we may need to requote it when you actually place your order.

- Please keep all boxes and packaging for 30 days. If boxes are discarded, returns and/or
warranty claims cannot be accepted and the order becomes non-refundable.

SubTotal  $4,219.06

THIS IS NOT AN INVOICE
Shipping/ Handling  $50.00

Total (excluding Tax)  $4,269.06

Please contact me if I can be of further assistance.
The content of this document is the property of Entré Computer Solutions and may not be disclosed in whole or in part with any third party without prior written consent from Entré.

For approval to order please sign and date in the space provided below and fax to our offices at (815) 399 5717 or send an email to your salesperson referencing the quote number
at the top of the document and the pricing for all products.

Please note that pricing is subject to change without notice and tax is not calculated on quotes. All payment should be based on invoices.

Payment Terms: Net 10 days. Cash, ACH, or most credit cards are accepted. Note that there will be an additional 3.15% fee reflected on statements for all credit card payments.

Prohibition on hiring - Entre' prohibits your organization from hiring its employees for a period of 1 year from the date of our last transaction.  A transaction can be defined as a
quote, sales, project, or discussion in regard to your IT infrastructure.   For more information on the legal aspects of this prohibition, please call or email a principle of Entre'
Computer Solutions.

Customer Signature Date

11/21/25 15:54:10 Page  1

1 of 2



Resolution Executive Summary 
For CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: January 15, 2026 
Board Date:  January 22, 2026     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Two Vehicle Pool Replacements Using 

Internal Service Funds  
Budget Information 

Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $77,000 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?   Central Services Internal Service Funds 
If ARPA or CIP funded, original Board approved amount?  N/A   
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $24,042 
Reason for ARPA or CIP increase?  N/A 
If ARPA funded, was it approved by Baker Tilly?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 81300-46410    Descriptor: Automobile 
Budget Impact? $52,958 

Background Information:  The Purchasing Department manages a fleet of (11) vehicles for the 
Winnebago County Vehicle Pool. Within this vehicle pool, the following departments have 
vehicles, (5) Community Development, (1) Public Defender and (5) the County Vehicle Pool which 
allows departments to request vehicles for various county business.   

We are continuing to replace the Community Development Department vehicles for the 
inspectors. We have several high mileage vehicles needing more expensive repairs.  

The intent of purchasing two vehicles will be that we sell two vehicles, one with about 110,000 
miles and the other with 140,000 miles.  This will allow us to shift vehicles around the entire 11 
vehicle fleet to better accommodate the vehicle pool needs. One new vehicle will go directly to 
the County Vehicle Fleet and another will go directly to the Community Development Fleet.  

Currently, we are requesting to purchase two (2) pre-owned certified vehicles.  The vehicles for 
purchase are a 2023 Ford Escape, for $26,229 and a 2024 Ford Escape, for $26,729 (See Resolution 
Exhibit A).  

Purchasing obtained three quotes to purchase both vehicle options (See Resolution Exhibit A). 
Quotes include dealer discounted pricing and government GSA pricing for vehicles. There is no 
additional outfitting required for these vehicles. 

Recommended By:  Hope Edwards, Director of Purchasing 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will prepare and submit Purchase Orders 
to Anderson Rock River Ford in the amount of $52,958. 



  County Board Meeting: January 22, 2026 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Paul Arena  
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2026 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF TWO VEHICLE POOL REPLACEMENTS 
USING INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000.00 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Purchasing Office requested the purchase of Two
Vehicle Pool Fleet Vehicles, Ford Escapes, using internal services funds; and 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department obtained quotes for price and delivery, resulting 
in the lowest price and best lead time from Rock River Ford; and  

WHEREAS, Rock River Ford has two equivalent 2023 and 2024 models on the lot priced 
lower than the government pricing discount; and 

WHEREAS, the Operations & Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the quotes for the two Vehicle Pool Fleet 
Vehicles, (Resolution Exhibit A) and recommends awarding the purchases to Rock River Ford, 
respectively. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue Purchase Orders, 
on behalf of the County of Winnebago, Illinois to Anderson Dealerships, Inc., DBA Rock River 
Ford, 224 North Alpine Road, Rockford, Illinois in the amount of $52,958. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and 
deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Finance Director, 
County Administrator, County Sheriff, County Board Office and County Auditor.    



Respectfully Submitted, 
       OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 
 
 

 PAUL ARENA, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 

KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
 

 MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

CHRISTINA VALDEZ  CHRISTINA VALDEZ 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2026. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Anderson Rock 

River Ford

Rockford, IL

Gordie Boucher Ford

Janesville, WI

Evansville Ford

Evansville, WI

2023 Ford Escape 26,229$    26,944$    26,094$    

2024 Ford Escape 26,729$    26,435$    28,998$    

Total $52,958 53,379$    55,092$    

QUOTE TAB
25NB-2456

TWO VEHICLE POOL REPLACEMENTS - FY 2026

Purchasing Department  |  404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.gov

Phone: (815) 319- 4380   |  Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov

Resolution Exhibit A



Anderson Dealerships Inc
224 N Alpine Rd
Rockford
IL, 61107
www.andersonrockriver.com

Deal #
606992

Customer #
177639

MITCHELL EDLER
Contact Sales: (815) 229 - 0510

contactrockriver@driveanderson
.com

County Of Winnebago
+1-(815) 961 - 9648 | +1-(815) 961 - 9648 | cow@gmail.com
404 ELM ST, ROCKFORD, IL 61101

2023 Ford Escape
Active AWD

VIN : 1FMCU9GN9PUA03193 |
Stock # : PT03193
Mileage : 5,797 mi
Color : SILVER
ford | Active AWD | All Wheel Drive |
Turbocharged | 1.5L | 3 | GAS | Sport
Utility | SUV | 4 | 5

Payment Detail

MSRP $25,000.00

Fees $1,228.63

Taxes 0 $0.00

Amount Financed $26,228.63

ME

© Tekion Corp 2026 Mon Jan 5 2026 | 4:42 PM

Customer Signature & Date

X
MITCHELL EDLER | Manager Signature & Date

X

Payments offered here are all subject to final credit approval from the lending institution. Vehicle Price does not include accessories and is before Taxes and/or applicable fees. Leases in some cases require additional 
cash for Security Deposit, and at Lease's End, Lessee is responsible for $0.25 per Mile over 15000 Miles per year and a Disposition Fee of $495.00. Wear and tear guidelines apply. All prices, specifications, and 
availability subject to change without notice.



Anderson Dealerships Inc
224 N Alpine Rd
Rockford
IL, 61107
www.andersonrockriver.com

Deal #
606992

Customer #
177639

MITCHELL EDLER
Contact Sales: (815) 229 - 0510

contactrockriver@driveanderson
.com

County Of Winnebago
+1-(815) 961 - 9648 | +1-(815) 961 - 9648 | cow@gmail.com
404 ELM ST, ROCKFORD, IL 61101

2024 Ford Escape
Active AWD

VIN : 1FMCU9GN5RUB52980 |
Stock # : PT52980
Mileage : 7,940 mi
Color : BLACK
ford | Active AWD | All Wheel Drive |
Turbocharged | 1.5L | 3 | GAS | Sport
Utility | SUV | 4 | 5

Payment Detail

MSRP $25,500.00

Fees $1,228.63

Taxes 0 $0.00

Amount Financed $26,728.63

ME

© Tekion Corp 2026 Mon Jan 5 2026 | 4:44 PM

Customer Signature & Date

X
MITCHELL EDLER | Manager Signature & Date

X

Payments offered here are all subject to final credit approval from the lending institution. Vehicle Price does not include accessories and is before Taxes and/or applicable fees. Leases in some cases require additional 
cash for Security Deposit, and at Lease's End, Lessee is responsible for $0.25 per Mile over 15000 Miles per year and a Disposition Fee of $495.00. Wear and tear guidelines apply. All prices, specifications, and 
availability subject to change without notice.



Public Works 
 Committee 































































































































































































































































































































































Unfinished 
Business 



New Business 



Announcements & 
Communications 



County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  Clerk.wincoil.gov 
Phone: (815) 319-4250 | Fax: (815) 969-0259  

Announcements & Communications 
Date:  January 22, 2026 
Item: Correspondence to the Board 
Prepared by: County Clerk Lori Gummow 

Governing Statute(s):  State of Illinois Counties Code 55 ILCS 5/Div. 3-2, Clerk 

County Code: Ch 2. Art. II. Div. 4, Sec. 2.86 – Record Keeping & Communications 

Background: The items listed below were received as correspondence.  

1. County Clerk Gummow received from the United States Nuclear Regulatory
Commission the following:

a. Constellation Energy Generation, LLC Fleet-Issuance of Amendments to Adopt
Technical Specifications Task Force Traveler TSTF-599 (EPID L-2025-LLA-
0125)

b. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Public Listserv: Byron (Byron, IL)
Update

c. Constellation Energy Generation, LLC-Braidwood and Byron-Request for
Withholding Information from Public Disclosure [Application] (REID L-2025-
LLA-0172)

d. Constellation Energy Generation, LLC-Braidwood and Byron Request-
Acceptance of License Amendment Request to Revise Limiting Conditions
Supporting Transitioning to Framatome GAIA Fuel (EPID No. L-2025-LLA-
0172)

e. Federal Register/Vol. 90, No. 229/Tuesday, December 2, 2025/Notices

f. Byron Station-Integrated Inspection Report 05000454/2025003 and
05000455/2025003

http://www.wincoil.us/
http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=005500050HDiv%2E+3-2&ActID=750&ChapterID=12&SeqStart=14400000&SeqEnd=16300000
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH2AD_ARTIICOBO_DIV4RUPR_S2-86RECO


 

County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  Clerk.wincoil.gov 
Phone: (815) 319-4250 | Fax: (815) 969-0259  

 

g. Applications and Amendments to Facility Operating Licenses and Combined 
Licenses Involving Proposed No Significant Hazards Considerations and 
Containing Sensitive Unclassified Non-Safeguards Information and Order 
Imposing Procedures: December 30, 2025  

 
h. Federal Register/Vol. 90, No. 246/Tuesday, December 30, 2025/Notices 
  

2. County Clerk Gummow received from the Illinois Department of Transportation a 
letter regarding a Notification to Maintain. The following contact has been 
satisfactorily completed and accepted by the Department of Transportation. 

 
Route: FAU 5128 
Contract: 64N64 
County: Winnebago 
Illinois Project: STP-64D8731 
Section: D2 SW 2019-2 

    
3. County Clerk Gummow received from Theresa Grennan, Winnebago County Treasurer 

the following: 
 
a. Investment Report - as of December 1, 2025 
b. Winnebago County Treasurer Bank Balances – October & November, 2025  
c. Collateralization Report – as of November 31, 2025 

  

http://www.wincoil.us/


 

Adjournment 


	Agenda
	Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings & Public Participation
	Approval of Minutes
	Consent Agenda
	Appointments
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Finance Committee
	Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency PSB Boiler Replacement
	Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Emergency JDC HVAC System Repairs
	Ordinance to Abate the 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026
	Ordinance to Abate the 2017C Tort Property Tax & Quarter Cent Sales Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy
	Ordinance Abating the Tax hereto Levied for Year 2025 Payable 2026 to Pay the Principal & Interest on Taxable General Obligation Bonds
	Ordinance to Abate the 2020A Alternative Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026
	Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021A Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2025 Payable 2026
	Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021B Bond Property Tax Levy for Year 2025 Payable 2026
	Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (PSST Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2022 Bonds Property Tax Levy for Year 2025 Payable 2026
	Ordinance Abating Special Tax Roll for 2025 Levy Year for Properties within the Special Service Area for I-39/Baxter Road County Water District Project
	Resolution Authorizing Settlement of Pending Litigation (Javen Dowthard et al. v. Winnebago County Sheriff's Office, et al.)
	Economic Development Committee
	Resolution Authorizing an Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement among County of Winnebago, Village of New Milford, Four Rivers Sanitation Authority & JMD Real Estate Holdings, LLC
	Resolution Granting $100,000 from Host Fees to Winnebago County Rail Authority to Establish Dedicated Site Acquisition Fund & Support Regional Economic Growth
	Operations & Administrative Committee
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of One Civil Processing Vehicle for the Winnebago County Sheriff's Office using CIP 2026 Funds
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Two Vehicle Pool Replacements using Internal Service Funds
	Public Works Committee
	(26-001) Resolution Authorizing the Purchase of a Utility Tractor
	(26-002) Resolution Authorizing the Purchase of Four Plow/Dump Truck Chassis
	(26-003) Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Willett Hofmann & Associates, Inc. for Construction Engineering for Replacement of Prairie Hill Road Bridge over Rock River
	(26-004) Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Willett Hofmann & Associates, Inc. for Architectural & Structural Engineering Services for New Equipment Garage for Hwy. Dept.
	(26-005) Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Chastain & Associates, LLC for Right of Way Acquisition Services for Owen Center Road Project
	(26-006) Resolution Authorizing a Structural Engineering Agreement with Willett Hofmann & Assoc., Inc. for Bridge Load Rating Updates 
	(26-007) Resolution Authorizing an Engineering Agreement with ITERIS for Traffic Signal Coordination & Upgrades along Riverside Blvd. Corridor
	(26-008) Ordinance for the Vacation of a Portion of Romona Avenue Right-of-Way in Rockford Township
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Announcements & Communications
	Adjournment



